FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/25/2022 4:27 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/26/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100873-2</u>

No. 81022-7-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL REYNOLDS,

Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Petitioner WSBA # 41177

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Michael's Childhood

Michael Reynolds never had a chance. After drinking throughout her pregnancy, Mr. Reynolds's mother abandoned the family before her son's first birthday. CP 206-08. Mr. Reynolds was born with fetal alcohol syndrome and spent several weeks in the hospital as an infant due to his mother's poor prenatal care. CP 207-08. Mr. Reynolds did not see his mother again between the ages of one and eight years old, other than when he visited her in prison. CP 209.

Mr. Reynolds's father also abandoned him, leaving him and his sister with their grandparents. CP 209. Mr. Reynolds's father also became chronically ill during Mr. Reynolds's childhood. RP 1548.<sup>1</sup> Mr. Reynolds and his sister were raised by their grandparents, until they were sent to live with an aunt and uncle in their teens. RP 212. Mr. Reynolds's sister ultimately ran away from home to reconnect with their mother when she was released from prison. CP 209. Their mother introduced Mr. Reynolds's sister to crack cocaine and methamphetamine, involving her in two armed robberies, for which Michael's sister was convicted of her first two felonies. CP 209.<sup>2</sup>

## 2. Michael's Juvenile Strike Offense

Mr. Reynolds returned to live with his father during high school, which was a struggle after many years of estrangement. When he was 17 years old, Mr. Reynolds and some friends tried to rob a convenience store using a BB gun. CP 163-64. The store

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Reynolds learned when he was 10 years old that his father is HIV+, a diagnosis which added significant stress to Mr. Reynolds's life as a young person. CP 212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Reynolds's sister testified telephonically at his sentencing hearing, joining the court from state prison in Montana. RP 1551-54.

clerk shooed the kids out of the store before anything was taken, and one of Mr. Reynolds's friends tossed a "smoke bomb" as the kids ran away. CP 164. The teens were quickly apprehended nearby and they confessed. CP 164.

Although he had just turned 17, Mr. Reynolds was charged with attempted robbery in the first degree, and the case was transferred to superior court, where Mr. Reynolds took a plea. CP 164; RP 1484-94.

### 3. Mr. Reynolds receives his second and third strikes.

Approximately one year after finishing his sentence for this juvenile offense, Mr. Reynolds was charged in 2006 with first degree robbery and first degree burglary in Benton County. CP 164. He was just 21 years old. CP 164. He pled guilty and served 144 months incarceration; this counted as his second strike offense. CP 164-65. He spent two thirds of this sentence (101 months) in solitary confinement, at great cost to his physical and mental health. CP 214-20.

In February 2018, when Mr. Reynolds was 33 years old, he was charged with burglary in the first degree and attempted indecent liberties for an incident at a Kent bikini barista stand. CP 1-2. The prosecuting attorney suggested an offer to Mr. Reynolds of 172.5 months indeterminate to resolve the new charges, "if we agree that 1st strike isn't a strike." CP 200 (email from King County Prosecutor's Office referring to juvenile offense). Because Mr. Reynolds did not immediately take a plea, the deputy prosecutor filed an amended information charging Mr. Reynolds with attempted rape in the second degree. CP 26-27. Mr. Reynolds was convicted after trial, and apparently as a penalty for going to trial, the State changed its position as to whether Mr. Reynolds's juvenile strike counted as a predicate under the POAA.

Mr. Reynolds requested an exceptional sentence within the standard range. CP 186.<sup>3</sup> He argued a life sentence was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Reynolds requested the court consider an exceptional sentence of 240 months. CP 186. The State said if sentenced

disproportionate and constitutes cruel punishment. CP 185-98. Mr. Reynolds also argued his juvenile strike was facially invalid. RP 1484-91.

The trial court found the evidence of the juvenile strike was facially sufficient. RP 1497-98; CP 250-51. The court imposed a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, finding it was not grossly disproportionate and that it did not offend state or federal prohibitions against cruel punishment. CP 250-51.

Mr. Reynolds appealed his sentence. He argued a mandatory life sentence without parole, based on a prior juvenile offense, violates the Eighth Amendment and Article I, section 14.

On February 28, 2022 in a published opinion, Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed. Appendix A. Mr.

outside the POAA, Mr. Reynolds's length of incarceration on this case would be 282 months, including enhancements (210 months + 72 months enhancements). CP 183.

Reynolds moved for reconsideration, and on March 24, 2022, the Court denied reconsideration. Appendix B.

Mr. Reynolds seeks this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1),

(3), (4).

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant review because Mr. Reynolds's case raises significant questions concerning the constitutionality of life without parole sentences for juvenile conduct, an issue this Court left unresolved in *State v. Moretti*.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b) (1),

(3), and (4) because Mr. Reynolds's case gives the Court an opportunity to address the constitutionality of life without parole sentences under the POAA for conduct committed as a juvenile. Mr. Reynolds's sentence is categorically disproportionate, as it is predicated upon an offense committed as a child – conduct categorically less blameworthy than a comparable offense committed by an adult. In addition, the Court of Appeals misunderstands this Court's decision in <u>Moretti</u>, placing this decision in conflict this Court's prior jurisprudence in <u>State v</u>. Fain, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980), and other cases cited below that understand proportionality review to cover predicates and qualifying offenses. Finally, the POAA is enforced in a racially disparate and disproportionally harsh manner, rendering Mr. Reynolds's sentence systemically unfair.

Under both the categorical analysis adopted by this Court in State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018), as well as the individual proportionality test in Fain, Mr. Reynolds's sentence falls short of the requirements of the Eighth Amendment and Article I, section 14, and thus presents significant questions of constitutional magnitude. 94 Wn.2d 387; RAP 13.4(b)(3). Because the Court of Appeals decision misreads the precise exception left open in Moretti, this Court should take the opportunity to harmonize its POAA jurisprudence between Moretti and Fain. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Finally, this challenge reflects widespread public concerns about mass incarceration, particularly as to its effects upon communities of color. Accordingly, this Court's review of the

constitutional limits of the POAA would be of significant public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. <u>The use of juvenile offenses as predicates for a</u> <u>persistent offender sentence violates the Eighth</u> <u>Amendment</u>.

Sentences must be proportionate to both the offense and the offender. <u>Graham v. Florida</u>, 560 U.S. 48, 59, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010); <u>Miller v. Alabama</u>, 567 U.S. 460, 469, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). The Eighth Amendment "categorically" bars certain sentencing practices for a particular class of offenders "based on mismatches between the culpability of [the] class of offenders and the severity of [the] penalty." <u>Miller</u>, 567 U.S. at 470.

Under an Eighth Amendment analysis, the Court asks whether a national consensus exists against the sentencing practice, looking at "objective indicia," including legislative enactments. <u>Graham</u>, 560 U.S. at 62. The Court then exercises independent judgment, assessing the culpability of the particular class of offenders in light of their shared, general characteristics,

and weighing that culpability against the severity of the punishment. <u>Id</u>. at 67. This analysis takes account of the penological justifications for the sentencing practice. <u>Id</u>. at 71. The Eighth Amendment categorically bars the most serious sentences for juvenile offenders. <u>Roper v. Simmons</u>, 543 U.S. 551, 568-73, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005) (barring execution of juveniles under age 18); <u>Graham</u>, 560 U.S. at 74-75 (barring life without parole for juveniles who did not commit homicide); <u>Miller</u>, 567 U.S. at 479-80 (barring life without parole for juveniles convicted of murder except in cases of "irreparable corruption").

Because the Washington constitution is more protective than the Eighth Amendment when evaluating juvenile sentences under the POAA, article I, section 14 should be analyzed first. <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 820.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If a sentencing scheme is not cruel under the Washington constitution, "it is necessarily not cruel and unusual under the Eighth Amendment." <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 820.

2. <u>Article I, section 14, which is more protective than</u> <u>the Eighth Amendment, categorically bars the use</u> <u>of juvenile strikes under the POAA</u>.

This Court recognized in <u>State v. Houston-Sconiers</u>,<sup>5</sup> <u>State v. Bassett</u>, and <u>State v. Gilbert</u>, that article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution provides heightened protection in the context of juvenile conduct. Mandatory sentencing schemes failing to take into account the fact that "children are different" are constitutionally infirm. <u>Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 8 (quoting <u>Miller</u>, 567 U.S. at 481); <u>see also State v. Witherspoon</u>, 180 Wn.2d 875, 887, 329 P.3d 888 (2014) (citing <u>State v.</u> Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 712, 921 P.2d 495 (1996).

In determining whether a recidivist sentencing scheme is categorically barred under article I, section 14, the Court applies a two-part test. <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 821-22. The Court determines whether there is a national consensus against the type

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>State v. Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); <u>Bassett</u>, 192 Wn.2d 67; <u>State v. Gilbert</u>, 193 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

of sentence applied, and the exercise of the court's independent judgment. <u>Id</u>. at 823. Here, the Court of Appeals erred when it did not adequately consider Mr. Reynolds's argument that the national consensus is against juvenile offenders serving life without parole sentences. Appendix A at 9. The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that since Mr. Reynolds's 2002 matter was transferred to adult court, "it was not a juvenile strike." Appendix A at 9.

Yet Mr. Reynolds's case presents precisely the exception carved out by <u>Moretti</u>, where this Court explicitly acknowledged its opinion was limited to "young adult offenders" such as Mr. Moretti, Mr. Nguyen, and Mr. Orr, all of whom were between 19 and 20 at the times of their first strike offenses. <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 814-17. This Court specifically declined to address the situation presented by Mr. Reynolds – where a strike offense was committed when the individual was a juvenile, but the conviction was entered in adult court. <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 821 n.5. Because the Court of Appeals misunderstood the unresolved issue left open by <u>Moretti</u>, it did not review or discuss the national consensus that children are by definition treated differently from adults. In fact, since 2012, there has been a 44% reduction in youth serving sentences of life without parole. Josh Rover, <u>Juvenile Life Without Parole</u>: <u>An Overview</u>, 1 (2021). There are 25 states that ban juvenile life without parole, and in nine additional states, no person is serving such a sentence. <u>Id</u>. Amended Brief of Appellant at 23-24 (showing national statistics).<sup>6</sup> This downward trend has only increased since this Court's recent decision in <u>Bassett</u>, 192 Wn.2d at 86-87.

When determining whether there is a national consensus against a sentencing practice like the POAA against juvenile

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>730 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/5-4.5-95(a)(4)(E) (eff. July 2, 2021), https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/fulltext.asp?DocName=0730 00050K5-4.5-95 (recidivist statute does not apply unless "[t]he first offense was committed when the person was 21 years of age or older"). This statute went into effect after the opening brief was filed.

offenses, "It is not so much the number of these States that is significant, but the consistency of the direction of change." <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 821 (quoting <u>Bassett</u>, 192 Wn.2d at 86 (internal quotation omitted)). This Court should accept review because the national direction of change supports a categorical bar on life without parole predicated on offenses committed by juveniles.

Next, when assessing the independent judgment exercised by the trial court, this Court must consider the penological goals of punishment and the reduced culpability of youth for a juvenile predicate offense. Life without parole is now the harshest penalty in Washington. <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 92 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018). The gradation of sentences existing before <u>Gregory</u> has been "condensed." <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 835 (Yu, J., concurring). This Court has rejected mandatory sentencing for juvenile offenses, finding adult ranges and enhancements are not mandatory. <u>Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 9, <u>Gilbert</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 175. In these cases, this Court has highlighted the

constitutional deficiency inherent in imposing a life without parole sentence for juvenile conduct.

Using a juvenile offense as a predicate for a strike serves no deterrent effect, as juveniles generally do not consider punishment, due to the characteristics of youth. <u>Graham</u>, 560 U.S. at 72. This Court has stated there is no rehabilitative purpose to scoring a juvenile offense as a strike; indeed, such a sentence is not designed to rehabilitate. <u>Bassett</u>, 192 Wn.2d at 88. The case for retribution is weak in these cases, as the "'heart of the retribution rationale' relates to an offender's blameworthiness," and this Court has recognized that "children have diminished culpability." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Miller</u>, 567 U.S. at 472).

> 3. <u>The use of juvenile conduct is disproportionate as</u> <u>applied to Mr. Reynolds in violation of article I,</u> <u>section 14</u>.

This Court should find Mr. Reynolds's sentence of life without parole based on a prior juvenile offense violates article I, section 14 as grossly disproportionate as applied to him. <u>State</u> <u>v. Fain</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 397. In <u>Fain</u>, this Court set forth four factors to consider in deciding if a sentence is proportional under article I, section 14. 94 Wn.2d at 397– 1) the nature of the offense; 2) the legislative purpose behind the statute; 3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions; and 4) the punishment meted out for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. <u>Id</u>.

An examination of the first <u>Fain</u> factor, the nature of the offense, must ensure that a punishment is not only proportional to the offense – which, as <u>Fain</u> held, applies to <u>all</u> strike offenses – but also, to the individual defendant. <u>Contra Bassett</u>, 192 Wn.2d at 83 (recognizing that "the <u>Fain</u> framework does not include significant consideration of the characteristics of the offender class"); <u>Roper</u>, 543 U.S. at 578 (invalidating death penalty for youth under 18); <u>Miller</u>, 567 U.S. at 479-80 (barring life without parole for all juveniles unless "irreparabl[y] corrupt"). An evaluation of the so-called <u>Fain</u> factors in Mr. Reynolds's case demonstrates that his sentence of life without parole is excessive and disproportionate as applied to him.

Mr. Reynolds was a child when he committed his first offense at age 17, and his culpability when committing that offense is informed by his youth. There can be no dispute that from the day of his birth, he had little chance of survival, not to mention any chance of success. CP 206-12. This Court should find, as with other children who committed their first offenses before the age of 18, Mr. Reynolds's childhood experiences reduced his culpability.

This Court should also find as to factor two – the legislative goal of permanent segregation is not achieved by including juvenile offenses as the basis for a life without parole sentence, as no legitimate penological goal is met by including juvenile conduct. <u>Graham</u>, 560 U.S. at 71. The legislative purpose behind the POAA includes "deterrence of criminals who commit three 'most serious offenses' and the segregation of those criminals from the rest of society." <u>State v. Thorne</u>,

129 Wn.2d 736, 775, 921 P.2d 514 (1994). As discussed above in the independent judgment analysis, these goals are not served through imposition of life without parole to punish juvenile conduct, casting serious doubt on whether the legislative purpose is actually being served by allowing juvenile strikes to support a life sentence.

As to the third <u>Fain</u> factor, a comparison with other jurisdictions – in imposing a mandatory sentence of life without parole upon the third most serious offense, Washington has the most punitive form of recidivist punishment in the country. Many other jurisdictions with recidivist statutes impose something far short of life, or provide an indeterminate scheme allowing for the possibility of release. Beth Caldwell, <u>Twenty-</u> <u>Five to Life for Adolescent Mistakes: Juvenile Strikes as Cruel</u> and Unusual Punishment, 46 U.S.F. L. Rev. 581, 618-22 & nn. 240, 241, 244 (2012).

As to the fourth <u>Fain</u> factor, there is no comparison with the punishment meted out for other offenses in Washington. Life

without parole is now the harshest sentence in Washington. After this Court's decision in <u>Gregory</u>, Mr. Reynolds has received the harshest penalty that can be imposed in Washington, as the gradations "that once existed before <u>Gregory</u> have now been condensed." <u>Moretti</u>, 446 P.3d 50 (Yu, J., concurring). Mr. Reynolds is serving the same sentence as murderers and serial killers, including at least 93 adults who committed aggravated murders against multiple victims in unspeakably brutal ways. <u>Gregory</u>, 91 Wn.2d 1 (setting for details of crimes).

The POAA strips a court of discretion to impose a sentence that reflects an offender's youth at the time of a predicate offense, or any mitigation due to their circumstances. The Court of Appeals concluded it is only Mr. Reynolds's most recent conviction on review, not his juvenile conduct, which the court may examine. Appendix A at 13 (citing <u>Moretti</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 826). Yet this position is in conflict with decades of this Court's own three-strikes proportionality review jurisprudence, as well as seminal Eighth Amendment cases, all of which guarantee that

proportionality review encompasses both the qualifying offense and the predicate offenses.

In Fain, this Court considered the proportionality of a life sentence under the habitual offender statute by looking at the nature of "each of the crimes that underlies his conviction as a habitual offender" in determining whether Mr. Fain's sentence violated article I, section 14. 94 Wn.2d at 397-98 (citing Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 295, 100 S. Ct. 1133, 63 L. Ed. 2d 382 (1980) (Powell, J., dissenting) (considering each of the victimless crimes underlying a life sentence)). Likewise, <u>Witherspoon</u> demonstrated that proportionality analysis under article I, section 14 subjects each of the strike offenses to scrutiny, as well as the "qualifying" strike. 180 Wn.2d at 875. And in State v. Manussier, this Court explicitly considered the defendant's first two strikes before determining that the sentence was not disproportionate. 129 Wn.2d 652, 677, 921 P.2d 473 (1996) (considering "each of the offenses underlying his conviction as a 'persistent offender'" and that all three of his offenses were

serious crimes).

This Court's statement in <u>Moretti</u> about examining only the most recent conviction is limited to the facts of that case, where the predicate offenses were committed by "young adult" offenders, not juveniles. 193 Wn.2d at 826.

Sentencing laws have significantly changed as biological, neurological, and psychological research has informed our understanding of the culpability of children. Amended Brief of Appellant at 19 (citing studies). Proportionality review under <u>Fain</u> should likewise evolve. Courts should be able to consider the mitigating factors of youth when imposing the most serious sentence available in Washington.

> 4. <u>This Court should accept review to harmonize</u> <u>its POAA jurisprudence involving juvenile</u> <u>conduct charged in adult court and to</u> <u>acknowledge that *Moretti* does not control cases <u>such as Mr. Reynolds's</u>.</u>

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