FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/9/2022 11:45 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100873-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL REYNOLDS, JR.,

Appellant.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

Pursuant to plea negotiations, Reynolds agreed to the declination of juvenile court jurisdiction and pled guilty to attempted first-degree robbery in adult court, receiving a low-

end standard range sentence of 34.5 months in prison. CP 377, 398-401. Reynolds was released from prison to community custody in December 2004, when he was 20 years old. CP 164, 308.

Less than 13 months later, then-21-year-old Reynolds and an accomplice forced their way into an occupied residence, threatening the husband and wife who lived there with large knives and demanding money. CP 314. Reynolds took the wife to an ATM at knifepoint, telling her that if she "tried anything" he would call his accomplice and instruct him to kill her husband. CP 314-15. While waiting for Reynolds and the wife to return, Reynolds' accomplice carved a gang symbol into the husband's back with a knife. CP 315. The wife eventually managed to escape from Reynolds and call for help, and Reynolds and his co-defendant were promptly captured. CP 315.

Reynolds was allowed to plead guilty to reduced charges of burglary in the first degree and completed robbery in the first

degree without any enhancements. CP 310-11, 319-20, 322, 329. Reynolds received a standard-range sentence of 144 months in prison, from which he was released in September 2017. CP 290, 341.

Less than five months later, while 33-year-old Reynolds was employed, had stable housing, and was on active supervision with the Department of Corrections, he forced his way into a bikini barista stand one morning on his way to work. RP 811, 909, 917, 1021, 1321; CP 3. Reynolds dragged the barista out of the stand at knifepoint and violently attempted to rape her, ripping off her bikini and strangling her when she resisted. RP 1022-30. He broke off his attack only when another car pulled up to the barista stand, and then fled. RP 665-68, 1035-36.

A jury found Reynolds guilty as charged of attempted rape in the second degree with a deadly weapon and burglary in the first degree with sexual motivation and a deadly weapon.

CP 140-44. The trial court found Reynolds to be a persistent

offender and sentenced him under the POAA to life in prison without the possibility of parole. CP 244, 246. The trial court rejected Reynolds' argument that such a sentence was unconstitutional due to his youth at the time of his first strike. RP 1530-38.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. REVIEW OF THE CATEGORICAL BAR ANALYSIS IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE IT IS ALMOST ENTIRELY CONTROLLED BY THE REASONING OF MORETTI.

In Moretti, this Court addressed claims nearly identical to the ones Reynolds raised in the Court of Appeals—the only difference was that the consolidated defendants in Moretti committed their first strikes at the ages of 19 and 20 rather than age 17 like Reynolds. Id. at 814-17. But like Reynolds, their second strikes were committed as young as age 21, and their third strikes were committed as fully formed adults in their early 30s or later. Id.

Like Reynolds, the Moretti defendants argued that the POAA violated the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14, because it required the sentencing court to impose a sentence of life without parole for their third strikes without taking into consideration their youthfulness at the time of their first strikes.

Id. at 814-15. And like Reynolds, they argued that their sentences were grossly disproportionate because their youth at the time of their first strikes made them less culpable. Id. at 832. This Court unanimously rejected those arguments for reasons that apply with equal force in this case.

In Moretti, this Court followed the framework laid out in prior cases for a claim of categorical unconstitutionality. It first assessed whether there is a national consensus against the practice at issue and then exercised its independent judgment to evaluate whether the challenged sentencing practice serves

¹ While only seven justices signed the majority opinion, the concurring justices agreed with the majority's constitutional holding. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 835 (Yu, J., concurring).

legitimate penological goals. <u>Id.</u> at 820-30. There is no dispute that the same framework applies in this case.

This Court found no evidence of a national consensus against using a crime committed as a young adult to enhance the sentence of an adult who continues to offend. <u>Id.</u> at 821-23. While that part of the Court's analysis does not control the question of whether there is a national consensus against using a first strike committed as a juvenile but prosecuted in adult court, the Court of Appeals' analysis in this case is entirely consistent with the analytical process applied in <u>Moretti</u> and other categorical bar cases.² Id.; slip op. at 8-10. As the State

The Court of Appeals in this case appropriately considered the scholarly articles and cases that Reynolds

_

² Contrary to Reynolds' contention in his petition, the Court of Appeals did not fail to "adequately consider Mr. Reynolds's argument that the national consensus is against juvenile offenders serving life without parole sentences." Pet. for Review at 14. That is an inaccurate description of the argument Reynolds raised below. Br. of Appellant at 22. It is irrelevant whether there is a national consensus against imposing LWOP sentences for offenses committed as a juvenile, because Reynolds received his LWOP sentence for offenses committed at age 33, not age 17.

pointed out in its briefing below, only two of the states that Reynolds claimed evinced a national consensus actually categorically prohibited the use of a first strike committed at age 17. Br. of Respondent at 24-32. Because the Court of Appeals ruling on this issue properly applied this Court's caselaw, which is clear and undisputed about what factors a court should consider when evaluating an assertion of national consensus, there is no need for this Court to address the issue in this case.

After this Court in Moretti found no national consensus, it moved to the second half of the categorical bar analysis, which is directly on point here. The Court exercised its independent judgment to "consider the culpability of the

asserted established a consensus against "the use of juvenile strikes" in an adult recidivist sentencing scheme. Br. of Appellant at 22; slip op. at 9. The court correctly concluded that those sources did not establish a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue in this case because they focused on the use of juvenile court *adjudications* as strikes, rather than on the use of adult court convictions of juvenile offenders. Slip op. at 9.

offenders at issue in light of their crimes and characteristics, along with the severity of the punishment in question and whether the challenged sentencing practice serves legitimate penological goals." <u>Id.</u> at 823 (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court concluded that "[i]ndependent judgment shows that the concerns raised by our new understanding of adolescent brain development are not present" when imposing sentence for an offense committed as a fully developed adult. <u>Id.</u> at 823, 825-26.

This Court's reasoning had nothing to do with the fact that the Moretti defendants were 19 or 20 years old at the time of their first strikes rather than 17 years old like Reynolds. To the contrary, this Court recognized that "age may well mitigate" the culpability of a 20-year-old just as much as the culpability of a juvenile. Id. at 824. But, the Court noted, "[t]hese POAA sentences are not punishment for the crimes the petitioners committed as young adults." Id. at 826. It has been well established for more than 100 years that "recidivist statutes do

not impose 'cumulative punishment for prior crimes. The repetition of criminal conduct aggravates the guilt of the last conviction and justifies a heavier penalty for the crime.'" <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Lee</u>, 87 Wn.2d 932, 937, 558 P.2d 236 (1976); citing <u>State v. Le Pitre</u>, 54 Wash. 166, 168, 103 P. 27 (1909)); <u>see also State v. Angehrn</u>, 90 Wn. App. 339, 343, 952 P.2d 195 (1998) (POAA does not violate ex post facto clause as to third strikes committed after its enactment because it does not impose additional punishment for prior strikes).

Because a POAA sentence imposes punishment only for the third strike, the relevant considerations when engaging in the second half of a categorical bar analysis of a POAA sentence are (1) a defendant's culpability for his third strike, not his prior strikes, and (2) whether the goals of punishment justify imposing an LWOP sentence on a fully developed adult who continues to commit strike offenses after twice being given the opportunity to reform himself. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 825-29.

This Court correctly held that caselaw governing the sentencing of juvenile offenders is inapplicable to the sentencing of fully formed adult recidivists, because the special protections for juvenile offenders are based on juveniles' greater capacity for change and the difficulty of "differentiat[ing] between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption."

Id. at 829. Fully formed adult recidivists, in contrast, "are neither juveniles nor young adults. We do not have to guess whether they will continue committing crimes into adulthood because they already have."

Id.

Such offenders "have shown that they are part of this rare group of offenders who are 'simply unable to bring [their] conduct within the social norms prescribed by the criminal law." Id. at 829 (quoting Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 284, 100 S. Ct. 1133, 63 L. Ed. 2d 382 (1980)). It is rational, the Court held, for the people of Washington to decide that such

offenders "must be incarcerated in order to protect the public." Id. at 829-30. For all of these reasons, this Court held that article I, section 14, and by extension the Eighth Amendment, "does not categorically prohibit imposing a life without parole sentence on a fully developed adult offender who committed one of their prior strike offenses as a young adult." Id. at 830.

Other than the question of a national consensus, which will always be a fact-dependent inquiry that turns on the record a defendant established in the Court of Appeals and the then-current status of other states' sentencing laws, every aspect of this Court's categorical bar analysis in Moretti applies with equal force in this case. There is thus no need for this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue.

2. REVIEW OF THE <u>FAIN</u> PROPORTIONALITY ANALYSIS IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE REYNOLDS' PROPOSED MODIFICATION OF THE <u>FAIN</u> TEST WAS EXPLICITLY REJECTED IN MORETTI.

A sentence that is not categorically unconstitutional under article I, section 14 may nevertheless be unconstitutional

as applied "if it is grossly disproportionate to the offense."

Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 830. When conducting a proportionality analysis of a POAA sentence under article I, section 14, courts consider the four factors set out in State v. Fain: (1) the nature of the offense, which encompasses both the nature of the crime and the defendant's culpability in committing it; (2) the legislative purpose behind the POAA; (3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions; and (4) the punishment meted out for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 830, 832; State v. Fain, 94 Wn.2d 387, 397, 617 P.2d 720 (1980).

Reynolds' only quarrel with the Court of Appeals' analysis on this issue centers on whether the <u>Fain</u> proportionality analysis should "evolve" to require examination of a defendant's prior strikes, not just the crimes for which he was sentenced this case. Pet. for Review at 21, 23. Reynolds contends that the Court of Appeals' examination of only the current offenses "is in conflict with decades of this Court's own

three-strikes proportionality review jurisprudence, as well as seminal Eighth Amendment cases." Pet. for Review at 21-22. However, this Court explicitly rejected Reynolds' proposed version of the <u>Fain</u> test in <u>Moretti</u>. 193 Wn.2d at 832 ("[O]ur proportionality review focuses on the nature of the current offense, not the nature of past offenses."). That holding is consistent with the principle that the POAA punishes only the third strike and does not impose cumulative punishment for prior strikes. <u>Id.</u> at 826.

The Court of Appeals was obligated to follow Moretti and reject Reynolds' argument that the circumstances of his prior offenses must be considered when assessing the proportionality of the sentence he received for his current offenses. Because Reynolds does not ask this Court to overrule Moretti and there is no basis on which to do so, there is nothing

more that this Court need say on the issue, and review is not warranted.³

3. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT PERMIT REYNOLDS TO RAISE A CLAIM OF RACIAL DISPROPORTIONALITY FOR THE FIRST TIME IN HIS PETITION, PARTICULARLY WHEN THE RECORD IS INSUFFICIENT AND THE ALLEGED DISPROPORTIONALITY WOULD NOT HAVE PREJUDICED REYNOLDS, WHO IS WHITE.

"An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this [C]ourt." State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). For the first time in his petition for review, Reynolds appears to halfheartedly raise a claim that "the POAA is enforced in a racially disparate and disproportionally harsh manner, rendering Mr. Reynolds's sentence systemically unfair." Pet. for Review at 10. No such argument was raised below, and the claim that racial

³ As noted in State's briefing below, even if a reviewing court were to include Reynolds' prior strikes in its proportionality analysis, he would still fail to establish that his culpability for those offenses was diminished by his youth or that his sentence is disproportionate to his three strikes as a whole. Br. of Respondent at 42-45.

disproportionality provides a basis to overturn his sentence is not supported by argument. See Samra v. Singh, 15 Wn. App. 2d 823, 836, 479 P.3d 713 (2020) ("Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration.").

Moreover, there is no evidence in the record that would allow this Court to assess whether racial disproportionality between the population at large and the class of offenders who receive POAA sentences is attributable to systemic racism in the application of the POAA specifically, as Reynolds asserts, rather than to systemic racism elsewhere in society and/or in other phases of the criminal justice system.⁴ Reynolds also provides no argument or support for his contention that any

-

⁴ It is highly concerning that the memorandum of amici curiae filed in support of the petition for review explicitly states that amici support review because they wish to present this Court with untested evidence the State has never seen, in total contravention of the rules of appellate procedure. RAP 9.1(a) (record on review may consist only of a report of proceedings, clerk's papers, exhibits, and a certified record of administrative adjudicative proceedings).

racial bias against people of color in the application of the POAA sentences would render the sentence imposed on him, a White man, "unfair." Pet. for Review at 10; CP 248.

Systemic racism in the criminal justice system is a critical issue that deserves this Court's careful consideration under the right circumstances. To reach Reynolds' claim in this case, based on untested and likely incomplete data presented by amici at the 11th hour, would put both the State and this Court at a disadvantage. Neither the parties nor this Court are well equipped to sift through raw statistics on an incredibly short timeline, without expert assistance, and without the ability to question the people who collected and maintained the data about any ambiguities or contradictions therein. Because decisions on important issues such as this one should be based on thorough briefing and evidence whose reliability has been adequately tested through the adversarial process, this Court should decline review of Reynolds' claim that racial

disproportionality in the application of the POAA renders the particular sentence imposed on him unfair.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 3,276 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.